THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

APR 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2012-GS-26-2339; 2012-GS-26-2340; 2012-GS-26-2551;
2012-GS-26-02552; 2012-GS-26-02553

Appellate Case No. 2013-001406

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Marcus Dwain Wright, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
(864) 271-6035 (facsimile)

Counsel for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in admitting evidence from search of residence?
2. Did the defendant have a reasonable expectation in the residence searched?
3. Did the court apply the proper analysis?
4. Was the search warrant affidavit was sufficient?
5. Could the affidavit be supplemented by oral evidence where the affidavit contained false information?
6. Did the court err in admission of SCDMV records?
7. Did the court err in the admission of evidence which was the result of illegal search of the defendant's hotel room?
8. Did the court err in excluding evidence of witness's prior inconsistent statement?
9. Did the court err in denying defendant's request to testify?
10. Does the court have to make specific findings as to prior convictions before it can sentence under LWOP?
11. Does the record support sentencing under LWOP?
12. If life is imposed and it is not clear whether or not it is under LWOP, should this Court remand for re-sentencing?
13. Did the trial court err in refusing to charge the jury on the law of self-defense and manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Marcus Dwain Wright, was indicted for Murder, Trafficking Powder Cocaine, Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine Base, Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime. A jury trial was held on June 17-21, 2013, the Honorable John C. Hayes presiding. The Appellant was represented by L. Morgan Martin and Edward M. Brown. The State was represented by Donna E. Elder, Assistant Solicitor for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit. Dixie Cox Eubank was the court reporter. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all charges. The Appellant was sentenced to life on the murder, five years on the weapons charge, twenty-five years on the trafficking charge, and fifteen years for the possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. All sentences were run concurrent to each other and consecutive to the life sentence. Appellant timely filed notice of appeal. J. Falkner Wilkes represents the Appellant on the appeal of this case.

I. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE FROM SEARCH OF RESIDENCE.

A. THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT DEFENDANT DID NOT HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE SEARCH WARRANT.

Wright timely exercised his right to challenge evidence seized during the search of the residence located at 3635 Kate's Bay Road. (R. 53). Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978). The court conducted a suppression hearing and as a result, ruled that Wright did not have standing to claim Fourth Amendment protection at that residence. In doing so the court failed to apply a proper analysis or consider relevant facts in its determination of standing.

Although the court initially stated the correct standard for determining standing, it failed to actually apply the law to the facts of the case. The trial court never made any findings as to the Wright's actual connection with the residence searched, focusing instead only on Wright's connection with *other* residences. (R. p. 143). Contrary to the trial court's "standing" analysis, the issue of protection under the Fourth Amendment turns entirely on whether or not an individual has sufficient contact with the property searched to establish a legitimate expectation of privacy in *that* property. In this case the trial court held that Wright did not have "standing" based on SCDMV records and Wright's bond sheet, both of which showed a different address for his residence. But regardless of what address Wright might have claimed on SCDMV records eight years prior, or on his bond paperwork a month after the search, the record shows that he clearly had sufficient contact with the residence searched to establish a legitimate expectation of privacy in that property.

The Fourth Amendment guarantees individuals the right to be free from unreasonable

searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. To claim protection under the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, defendants must show that they have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143, 99 S.Ct. 421, 430, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978). Throughout its analysis the trial court in Wright's case continually referred to the issue as one of standing. Standing is not the correct standard for the Fourth Amendment issue. The United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected the application of an analysis based on the standing doctrine; instead, the analysis is based on substantive Fourth Amendment law. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 140, 99 S.Ct. 421, 429, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978). The use of the term "standing" has created confusion in this context, and therefore "standing" is no longer appropriate to "connote the legitimate expectation of privacy in the evidence seized or the premises searched." United States v. Bouffard, 917 F.2d 673, 675 (1st Cir. 1990).

A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective in nature: the defendant must show (1) he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable. Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177, 104 S.Ct. 1735, 1741, 80 L.Ed.2d 214 (1984) (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361, 88 S.Ct. 507, 516, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (*Harlan, J., concurring*)).

It is fundamental that Fourth Amendment rights are personal in nature and may not be vicariously asserted. Rakas v. Illinois (1978), 439 U.S. 128, 133-34, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d (R. p. 387). A person aggrieved by the introduction of evidence secured by an illegal search of a third person's premises or property has not suffered any infringement upon his Fourth Amendment rights. *Id.* at 134.

Consequently, a person challenging the legality of a search bears the burden of proving that he has standing. The burden is met by establishing that the person has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143. Overnight guests have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home in which they are staying, while a person merely present in the home with the consent of the owner may not. Minnesota v. Olson, (1990), 495 U.S. 91, 96-97, 110 S.Ct. 1684, 109 L.Ed.2d 85; Minnesota v. Carter, (1998), 525 U.S. 83, 119 S.Ct. 469, 142 L.Ed.2d 373.

In Carter the Supreme Court opened the door to argue that not just overnight guests will be afforded Fourth Amendment protection." *See* Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 90, 91, 119 S.Ct. 469, 142 L.Ed.2d 373 (1998); *see also* *id.* at 99, 101-02, 119 S.Ct. 469 (Kennedy, J., *concurring*); *id.* at 103, 119 S.Ct. 469 (Breyer, J., *concurring*); *id.* at 106-12, 119 S.Ct. 469 (Ginsburg, J., *dissenting*). "[T]he defendant must demonstrate that his own reasonable expectation of privacy was violated by the action of the State." *Id.*; *see also* Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 133-34, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978). Our Supreme Court has recognized that at least five members of the United States Supreme Court — the three who dissented and the two who concurred in Carter — would be willing to extend protection to guests present for social reasons and present for some time less than an overnight stay. State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107 (2004).

Whether a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in a third person's place falls somewhere on the continuum between the overnight guest in Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 96-97, 110 S.Ct. 1684, 109 L.Ed.2d 85 (1990) (overnight guests have a reasonable expectation of privacy in a third person's property), and the person who was present solely for the purpose of

conducting a business transaction in Carter, 525 U.S. at 90-91, 119 S.Ct. 469 (a person legitimately on a third party's property solely for the purpose of conducting a business transaction does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in that property).

In analyzing whether Wright had a reasonable expectation of privacy the trial court should have analyzed the connection between Wright and the property searched. This would include whether he or his wife owned or lived at the property, or whether Wright or his wife were guests at the property which would include the relationship to the property owner as well as the property itself. Here the record shows that Wright and his wife lived at the search location. Detective Cox testified that immediately prior to the search they sent a detective to 3635 Kate's Bay Highway where Detective Daniel Spencer spoke with Wright's wife, Jacinda Wright. Spencer "determined at that time that that is the residence where *they reside*." (R. p. 55, l. 24 - R. p. 56, l. 5). SCPPPS agent Johnson testified that he supervised Wright at the same location as the residence described in the search warrant. (R. p. 125). The defense also offered exhibits to show he resided at 3635 Kate's Bay Highway.¹ Detective Cox testified that Captain Buchanan lived in the area, was familiar with Wright's car, and had seen Wright coming and going from the search location in the days leading up to the search. (R. p. 54-55). Wright's cars were seen at the search location just prior to the search. (R. p. 89). The State's witness, Menendez, testified that Wright and his wife Jacinda lived at the search location. Menendez also testified that she had seen Wright at that residence on a regular basis. (R. p. 261). Despite the record, the trial court held that Wright failed in his burden to produce *any* evidence as to on the standing issue. (R. p. 99).

¹The trial court excluded Defense Exhibits 3 and 4 which showed 3635 Kate's Bay Highway as Wright's address.

Despite sufficient facts to establish a reasonable expectation of privacy in the search location the trial court instead focused on where Wright had claimed as his residence for other purposes. (R. p. 143). Subsequent to Wright's arrest Officer Chatfield testified that Wright gave him a Columbia address during a post arrest interview. (R. p. 129). The trial court focused on SCDMV records reflecting information from 2003 which indicated 3643 Kate's Bay Road address for Wright.² (R. pp. 130; 144; 603-604). The trial court also focused on the address given on Wright's bond sheet which was filled out over a month *after* the search. (R. p. pp. 136; 606; 612). None of the facts concerning these other addresses, either years before or more than a month after the search are sufficient to overcome the overwhelming evidence that Wright lived at that location.

The defense correctly argued that Wright's expectation of privacy does not turn on an address for a license or bond sheet. (R. p. 139). Yet instead of analyzing Wright's expectation of privacy based on his connection with the residence the trial court focused instead on his connection with other properties. (R. p. 326). Clearly the trial court failed to apply the proper analysis in determining whether Wright had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the search location. Regardless of what other addresses he may have claimed for various purposes before and after the search Wright had sufficient connection with the property to support a legitimate expectation of privacy.³

²These SCDMV Records were admitted over the defense's objection and were not proper evidence for the trial court to consider.

³Ironically, the State later argues that evidence found as a result of the search of the Kate's Bay residence established a connection to Wright by virtue of its discovery there. A receipt for Glock, ammo, magazines, and shell test fire casings from a Glock box found at the Kate's Bay residence were all argued as "linking" Wright to "a forty calibre" by virtue of their

B. THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT WAS SUFFICIENT.

In addition to the court's ruling that Wright didn't have standing, the court further held that the warrant was valid for Fourth Amendment purposes. (R. p. 144). The police had no evidence that specifically identified the residence that they wanted to search so they simply made up facts identifying 3635 Kate's Bay Road. During the trial the police admitted that numerous references to residence at 3635 Kate's Bay Road were untrue. Despite the "salted" affidavit, the court held the search warrant valid. The court's ruling was therefore error.

A search warrant may issue only upon a finding of probable cause. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). Search warrants may be issued "only upon affidavit sworn before the magistrate . . . establishing the grounds for the warrant." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985). Oral testimony may be used to supplement search warrant affidavits. State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678-79 (2000). The magistrate's task in determining whether to issue the search warrant is to make a practical, commonsense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found *in a particular place*. State v. Dunbar, 361 S.C. 240, 246, 603 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct.App. 2004) *emphasis added*.

In Wright's case the police did not have information specifically identifying the residence at 3635 Kate's Bay Road. Although they had information concerning the general area, there was no specific information as to that residence *in particular*. With reckless disregard for the truth, the police simply made up facts to identify 3635 Kate's Bay Road in particular. Absent the

discovery at that location. (R. p. 516-517).

statements that were not true, the warrant was not supported by sufficient information to justify a search of the 3635 Kate's Bay Highway residence.

Detective Cox admitted that the information provided in the affidavit was not accurate. (R. p. 73; 76-77). The statement that the weapon sought in the warrant was "obtained from his wife *at the above location*" was admittedly false. (R. p. 76). Cox also admitted that the statement in the affidavit that Wright *drove to 3635 Kate's Bay Road* after the shooting was also false. (R. p. 77). And while Weaver initially testified that the cell phone pinged to the *3635 Kate's Bay Road address*, he later admitted that this was untrue also. (R. p. 66, l. 25). At best the ping information provided only a "general area" for where the phone was located. (R. p. 66). At best Powell's statement provided only a general description of the Kate's Bay area. (R. p. 77). The several references to the 3635 Kate's Bay Road residences were necessary to link the property to the shooting and thus justify the search of that particular residence. They were added by the police and not supported by any evidence. There was no testimony explaining how false information of such importance was added not once, but three times to obtain the search warrant. Without those false statements, there was no evidence to support the search of 3635 Kate's Bay Road.

The trial court in this case noted that the police had "salted" the affidavit with information that could not be supported by the record. (R. p. 144). The court discussed the lack of evidence for the affidavit once you take out the inaccurate information. (R. p. 92). The court however focused on evidence of the cell phone pinging as supplementing the otherwise "salted" affidavit. (R. p. 145). For the court, this fact appears to have overshadowed the lack of any other credible facts in the affidavit. (R. p. 145). Unfortunately, the record shows that this supplemental

fact was also untrue.

Detective Weaver claimed that he had supplemented his affidavit with oral testimony.⁴ (R. p. 65). As part of this testimony Weaver testified that Wright's cell phone had been tracked to the 3635 Kate's Bay Road residence the night after the murder. (R. p. 65). On cross-examination however Weaver testified only that the cell phone pinged only to "the general area" of Kate's Bay Road. (R. p. 65-67). So the critical fact relied on by the court as to the particular location to be searched, the fact that overcame the lack of accurate information in the affidavit, was also false. The record shows that the police had only an idea of the general location, and added their own unsupported statements specifically identifying 3635 Kate's Bay Road in order to obtain a search warrant.

Here the police made false statements to obtain the search warrant for 3635 Kate's Bay Road. The false statements were clearly made with reckless disregard for the truth. When removed, there are insufficient facts to warrant the search of 3635 Kate's Bay Road in particular. Under a Franks analysis, probable cause simply did not exist. See State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121 (2000).

In addition to the failure to meet Fourth Amendment standards for the issuance of a search warrant, the warrant also fails to meet the standard under South Carolina law as our General Assembly has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the

⁴There is a lack of evidence showing the extent of supplemental oral information provided to the magistrate. The trial court discussed the lack of evidence of specific sworn oral testimony. (R. p. 86). It also discussed the lack of evidence for the affidavit once you take out the inaccurate information. (R. p. 92).

South Carolina Constitution require an oath or affirmation before probable cause can be found by an officer of the court, and a search warrant issued. U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Additionally, the South Carolina Code mandates that a search warrant "shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record..." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985). Oral testimony may also be used in this state to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. *See State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997). However, "sworn oral testimony, standing alone, does not satisfy the statute." *State v. McKnight*, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471(1987).

The issue here is that there is a distinction between an affidavit with insufficient information on its face and an affidavit with false information. In Wright's case, as in *Jones*, *supra*, the false affidavit is the equivalent of not having an affidavit at all. As such, §17-13-140 has been violated since *McKnight* requires the existence of a truthful written affidavit as a necessary foundation to any search warrant. If an affidavit is not truthful, then oral evidence is all the magistrate would have to depend on to determine if probable cause exists. But without a underlying valid affidavit, supplemental oral information can not be used to establish probable cause. Under *Jones*, absent a truthful written affidavit, oral information is insufficient to establish probable cause. Here, because all of the information in the affidavit identifying the particular residence to be searched was false, the trial court could not rely on oral information to establish the particularity requirement. Oral information may only be used by an affiant to supplement or to amend incorrect information in an affidavit which was not knowingly, intentionally, or recklessly supplied by the affiant. *See State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501(1975). In

Wright's case the information in the affidavit as to the particularity of the premises was made up by the police. The additional oral information about cell phone pinging could not supplement the affidavit, and even if it could it still wouldn't change the outcome since it was false as well. There simply wasn't sufficient evidence to identify the residence at 3635 Kate's Bay Road in particular. The trial court erred in failing to suppress evidence obtained as a result of the search of the 3635 Kate's Bay Road residence.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMISSION OF SCDMV RECORDS WITHOUT PROPER FOUNDATION.

The State offered SCDMV records to establish that Wright had used a different address for his driver's license and for the title of a trailer. The defense timely objected to the records based on the State's failure to properly authenticate the records. (R. p. 139). The State argued that SCDMV records were business records and that it was not necessary to authenticate them through a record keeper. (R. p. 132). The records were admitted based on the records being "obtained through the normal processes as a law enforcement officer". (R. p. 132). The court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

Information contained in the documents was hearsay under Rule 803, SCRE. Although hearsay, certain business records kept in the normal course of business may qualify as an exception to the hearsay rule if certain criteria is met. Rule 803 SCRE provides:

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