**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Horry County  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**MAR 26 2015**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE,**

Respondent,

v.

**MARCUS DWAIN WRIGHT,**

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-001406

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, 15<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29526

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

police could lawfully enter the motel room to arrest Powell, and seize any items in plain view while lawfully in the room. See Johnson, 410 S.C. 10, 763 S.E.2d 36 (Ct. App. 2014).<sup>61</sup>

#### *Entry Pursuant to a Lawful Warrantless Arrest*

Further, police had the right to make a lawful warrantless arrest for a felony, and neither Wright nor Powell could defeat the arrest by retreating into the motel room to avoid arrest. United States v. Santana, 427 U.S. 38 (1976). Police officers can make a warrantless arrest for a felony when an officer of the law has reasonable grounds to believe a felony has been committed and the person arrested is the party who committed the felony. State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979)(other citations omitted); State v. Thomas, 248 S.C. 573, 151 S.E.2d 855 (1966). The limitation being the arrest must be in a public place. Kirk v. Louisiana, 536 U.S. 635, 123 S.Ct. 2458 (2002); United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411 (1976). However, once Wright or Powell stepped out of the motel room into a public place, they could not avoid a lawful felony arrest without a warrant by retreating back into the motel room. Santana.<sup>62</sup>

#### *Inevitable Discovery*

Further, the evidence would have inevitably been discovered. Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984); United States v. Allen, 159 F.3d 832 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998).<sup>63</sup> Officers had the motel room

---

<sup>61</sup> In Johnson, this Court found the initial entry into a motel room to arrest a subject for whom officers had an arrest warrant, who cracked the door and then backed away from the door into the room, was justified and resulting protective sweep was justified and evidence seized in plain view was admissible); State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 493 S.E.2d 349 (1997)(entry into residence was lawful where officers had reasonable belief suspect was home-evidence in plain view was properly seized).

<sup>62</sup> Santana, 427 U.S. 38 (“a suspect may not defeat an arrest which has been set in motion in a public place, and is therefore proper under Watson, by the expedient escaping to a private place”). In Santana, the defendant was standing in the doorway of her house, and retreated into her home.

<sup>63</sup> See United States v. Whitehorn, 813 F.2d 646 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987); State v. Brown (inevitable

surrounded. They were not going to allow Wright or Powell to escape.<sup>64</sup> As a result, the drugs and currency found on the refrigerator would have been inevitably discovered. Id.

### *The Search Warrant was Valid*

Additionally, the search warrant was valid even though it *may* have contained a factual misstatement. Franks.<sup>65</sup> While this Court must determine the legality of the initial entry into the motel room, the Magistrate's sole determination was whether *there was probable cause to issue the search warrant to search the motel room for drugs or narcotics*, not the legality of the entry of the room. Even excluding any *possible* misstatement about when officers first saw the drugs in plain view, whether when the door was opened or after entry into the room, the fact remains officers inadvertently discovered drugs and currency in plain view. Further, the affiant saw the drugs in plain view from outside the motel room. Therefore, there was probable cause to issue the search warrant to search the motel room for drugs or narcotics. Franks.

---

discovery is an exception to the exclusionary rule); State v. Jenkins, 398 S.C. 215, 727 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 2012)(remanding to determine if inevitable discovery applied); State v. Bruce, 402 S.C. 621, 741 S.E.2d 590 (Ct. App. 2013)(recognizing exception but finding exception not met); State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 482, 713 S.E.2d 324, 332 (Ct. App. 2011)(evidence may be admitted "if the government can prove the evidence would have been obtained inevitably."

<sup>64</sup> Wright and Powell would have eventually come out of the room and surrendered, justifying a protective sweep of the motel room under Brown and the discovery of the drugs in plain view, or officers would have eventually brought the arrest warrant for Powell to the scene and entered the motel room to arrest Powell, or would have gone and gotten a search warrant to enter the motel room and seize Powell and Wright and search for evidence of the crime of murder.

<sup>65</sup> The search warrant affidavit states that the officers who initially entered the motel room saw the drugs in plain view when the door was first opened and they were standing outside. The officer who obtained the search warrant testified before the jury that this was the information that was related to him before he went and obtained the search warrant. (R. 319-20). The affiant also testified at the suppression hearing that both officers who initially entered the room saw the drugs in plain view when the motel room door was first opened. (R. 112, ll. 7-23). However, at the suppression hearing, the officer who first entered the motel room was only asked what he saw after entering the motel room. (R. 105). In response, he stated he saw the drugs in plain view after entering the room. (R. 104-05).

*The Exclusionary Rule should not apply*

Further, the exclusionary rule should not apply in this situation. Johnson, 660 So. 2d 648 (finding exclusionary rule should not be applied where police had obtained valid arrest warrant for defendant but officer who actually made the arrest was not aware of the existence of the warrant; police had complied with the warrant requirement; there could be no remedial value in such a draconian penalty).<sup>66</sup> Further, police obtained a search warrant after inadvertently finding the drugs, and only then seized the drugs found in plain view.

*Harmless Error*

Finally, with regard to the murder and gun charge, the evidence seized from the motel room was harmless and could not have affected the verdict on either. The evidence seized from the motel room was important to the trafficking and PWID charge, not the murder or gun charge.<sup>67</sup> Even if the court erred in admitting the evidence from Room 105, its admission was harmless on the murder and gun charge. State v. Herring.

**ARGUMENT III.**

**The issue alleging Judge Hayes erred in not allowing counsel to question a witness about a prior statement is not preserved for appeal; and, even if preserved Judge Hayes did not err in preventing counsel from questioning the witness about a prior**

---

<sup>66</sup> Police had obtained a valid arrest warrant for Powell for murder; police had verified Powell was in the room as well; Powell rented the motel room; and, therefore police had the right to enter the room to arrest Powell where knowledge of fellow officers in the investigation was imputed to all officers working on the case, and these officers had been directed to go to the motel and apprehend the subjects. In any event, the exclusionary rule should not apply. Id.

<sup>67</sup> The testimony of the eyewitnesses to the murder, the cover-up of the murder as testified to by Qwanda and Powell, the admissions of Wright as testified to by Sinclair, Qwanda, and Powell, and the physical evidence recovered at the crime scene in addition to that in the red Camaro [Police established Jacinda rented the red Camaro for Wright by introducing the lease agreement and through the testimony of Qwanda and Powell], the BMW, and Wright's wife's residence was what resulted in his conviction for murder and the gun charge, not what was in Room 105.

**statement where the defendant did not meet the requirements of the Rule; however, even assuming *arguendo* error, it was harmless given the other impeachment and admissions of the witness and the over-whelming evidence of Wright's guilt.**

*What Occurred Below*

After lengthy cross-examination and impeachment of Powell, Wright sought to impeach Powell with the contents of a letter Powell purportedly wrote to Wright while the two were incarcerated together in the county jail. Wright *alleged* the witness stated in the letter a third person committed the murder, a man nicknamed "Two Guns." (R. 208). The Solicitor objected on the basis she could not tell what statement Wright was referring to, and she had requested the letter be provided or disclosed to her previously and it had not been disclosed, and she was again asking to see the letter before counsel cross-examined the witness on the contents of the letter. (R. 308-11). Wright argued that under the S.C. Rules of Evidence he did not have to produce the statement because there might be something in the statement that was nefarious to his client. (R. 309-10). The Solicitor indicated she had spoken to the witness prior to trial and the witness indicated he was coerced into writing a statement by the defendant, but the only thing he said in the statement was he did not see anything or know anything about the case, not what Wright was claiming. (R. 310). Wright did not produce the letter prior to trial when requested by the Solicitor, and he did not produce it to the Solicitor when requested during the examination of the witness. (R. 310-15). During the initial questioning of the witness on this issue, counsel claimed he could not find the letter, then outside the presence of the jury he admitted they could not find the letter. (R. 308-09, 313). After some *in camera* argument, counsel informed the court the witness admitted he wrote the statement, and counsel was satisfied with the fact he was able to ask the question in front of the jury. (R. 310, ln. 207, 313, ll. 11, 23-25). As the *in camera*

hearing continued, counsel acquiesced to the trial court's ruling he would not allow the impeachment. (R. 313, ll. 11, 23-25). Judge Hayes informed both parties he was going to give a curative instruction regarding this particular statement, and Wright made no objection to the curative instruction the court proposed. (R. 313, 314, ll. 1-15). And, Wright made no objection to the curative instruction when it was given to the jury or after it was given. (R. 314, l. 16 – 315, l. 1). Wright now alleges Judge Hayes erred in refusing to allow him to impeach Powell on the letter which he never produced to opposing counsel.

*The Lack of Preservation of this Issue*

This issue is not preserved for appeal. First, Wright stated he was satisfied with his cross-examination given the fact the witness admitted he wrote the statement, and given the fact Wright was able to ask the question in front of the jury regarding “Two Guns.” State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000). Further, Wright made no offer of proof what Powell's testimony would have been if he answered the question. State v. Simmons, 360 S.C. 33, 599 S.E.2d 448 (2004); State v. Anderson, 304 S.C. 551, 406 S.E.2d 152 (1991). And, there was no proffer of the extrinsic evidence. Id. Further, Wright acquiesced to the court's ruling, not once, but twice, and agreed he would ask no further questions of the witness on this subject. Benton; State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 498 S.E.2d 642 (1998). Finally, Wright acquiesced to the curative instruction regarding the proposed impeachment and raised no objection to it. As a result, this issue is simply not preserved for appellate review and must be denied and dismissed.

*The Lack of Merit of this Issue*

Further, there is no merit to this issue. Rule 613(a), SCRE, provides in pertinent part:

- (a) **Examining witness concerning prior statement.**

In examining a witness concerning a prior statement made by the witness, whether written or not, the statement need not be shown nor its contents disclosed to the witness at that time, ***but on request the same shall be shown or disclosed to opposing counsel.***

Rule 613(a), SCRE (emphasis added). The record shows “opposing counsel” [the Solicitor] requested the written statement [letter] in question be shown to her or disclosed to her, as the Rule requires. Wright failed to do so. In fact, the Solicitor requested she be shown the statement or the statement be disclosed to her before trial and again at the time Wright sought to question the witness. Wright *did not* show her the statement or disclose the same to her prior to trial *or* at the time Wright sought to question the witness. In fact, Wright stated under the SCRE he did not have to produce the statement because it might contain something nefarious about him. Wright is wrong. The Rule provides the statement must be produced to opposing counsel when requested. As a result, Wright failed to comply with the requirements of the Rule before examining the witness about the prior statement and its alleged contents. Rule 613(a), SCRE; *South Carolina Evidence, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.*, Danny R. Collins, p. 140, ll. 2-8 (pointing out the holding in State v. Rowell, 75 S.C. 494, 56 S.E.2d 23 (1906) suggesting a prior inconsistent statement does not have to be shown to opposing counsel before it is used for impeachment is no longer good law on this point), *citing* Rule 613(a), SCRE *and referencing also* State v. Adams, 277 S.C. 115, 283 S.E.2d 582 (1981); State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E.2d 559 (1979). The efficacy of this Rule is evident. Where only a portion of the statement is introduced for impeachment, the entire statement is generally admissible to explain the inconsistency. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998); *South Carolina Evidence, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.*, Danny R. Collins, p. 141.<sup>68</sup>

---

<sup>68</sup> “[A]fter a witness has been impeached, the party offering the witness can use the rule of completeness to require the cross-examiner to bring out any other matters that ought in fairness

Wright wanted to impeach the witness but not allow the State to effectively offer any reply or rebuttal testimony with the contents of the statement itself.<sup>69</sup> As a result of the failure of Wright to comply with the requirements of Rule 613(a), SCRE, Judge Hayes could not have erred in denying the request to cross-examine the witness about the prior statement. Wright should not be heard to complain about his own actions in failing to comply with the Rule. Id.

#### *Harmless Error*

Even if the court erred in denying the requested impeachment, the error was harmless. In State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 33-24 (1998) and State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999), our Supreme Court held the failure to allow impeaching evidence was subject to harmless error analysis and found in both cases the error was harmless.

In determining harmless error regarding any issues of witness credibility, we will consider the importance of the witness testimony to the prosecution's case, whether the witness's testimony was cumulative, whether other evidence corroborates or contradicts the witness's testimony, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the State's case. State v. Holmes, 320 S.C. 259, 464 S.E.2d 334 (1995), (*quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)).

Id. at 70, 508 S.E.2d at 34. *See State v. McLeod*, 362 S.C. 73, 606 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2004). Here, Powell's testimony was not critical to the State's case for murder, trafficking, PWID, or the weapon charge.<sup>70</sup> An error, if any, in the limitation of cross-examination was harmless on this record. Beckam; Fossick; McLeod.

---

be considered with the prior statement.” *South Carolina Evidence, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.*, Danny R. Collins, p. 143.

<sup>69</sup> And, this was not the first time during the trial Wright had sought to impeach a witness about something alleged to be in a prior statement, and the witness disputed what was actually in the statement. On that occasion, Wright did not offer the extrinsic proof to substantiate the prior inconsistency. (R. 209-12).

<sup>70</sup> Powell was not an eyewitness to the murder by his own admission. Powell was involved only

## ARGUMENT IV.

### **Judge Hayes did not err in denying the defendant's late request to testify.**

#### *What Occurred Below*

During the trial, Judge Hayes reviewed with Wright his right to testify and not testify and fully explained to Wright his constitutional rights in this regard. Wright stated under oath *he did*

---

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